IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. SC19-328; SC19-479

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL RE: RIGHT TO COMPETITIVE ENERGY MARKET FOR CUSTOMERS OF INVESTOR OWNED UTILITIES; ALLOWING ENERGY CHOICE

ADVISORY OPINION TO THE ATTORNEY GENERAL RE: RIGHT TO COMPETITIVE ENERGY MARKET FOR CUSTOMERS OF INVESTOR OWNED UTILITIES; ALLOWING ENERGY CHOICE (FIS)

UPON REQUEST FROM THE ATTORNEY GENERAL FOR AN ADVISORY OPINION AS TO THE VALIDITY OF AN INITIATIVE PETITION

REPLY OF FLORIDA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE AND FLORIDA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL IN SUPPORT OF INITIAL BRIEF OPPOSING THE INITIATIVE PETITION

WHITE & CASE LLP

Raoul G. Cantero rcantero@whitecase.com David P. Draigh ddraigh@whitecase.com Zachary B. Dickens zdickens@whitecase.com 200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Ste. 4900 Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 371-2700 Facsimile: (305) 358-5744

Counsel for the Florida Chamber of Commerce and the Florida Economic Development Council

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>P</u>	Page(s)
TABLE OF CONTENTS	i
TABLE OF CITATIONS	ii
ARGUMENT	1
I. THE BALLOT INITIATIVE VIOLATES THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE	
A. The Proposed Amendment Engages in Logrolling	2
B. The Proposed Amendment Substantially Alters and Performs the Functions of Multiple Branches of Government	
II. THE PROPONENTS CONFIRM THAT THEY ARE RELYING ON THE "TEXAS MODEL," BUT TEXAS RESTRUCTURED ITS ELECTRICITY MARKET BY A PAINSTAKING LEGISLATIVE PROCESS, NOT BY BALLOT INITIATIVE	}
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE	13
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	14

i

TABLE OF CITATION

CASES

Advisory Op. to the AG re: Limits or Prevents Barriers to Local Solar Elec. Supply, 177 So. 3d 235 (Fla. 2015)	5, 9
Advisory Op. to the AG Re Use of Marijuana for Debilitating Med. Conditions, 181 So. 3d 471 (Fla. 2015)	5, 9, 10
Advisory Op. to the Attorney Gen. re: Protect People, Especially Youth, from Addiction, Disease, and Other Health Hazards of Using Tobacco, 926 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 2006)	9, 10
Advisory Op. to Attorney Gen. re: Protect People From the Health Hazards of Second-Hand Smoke, 814 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 2002)	9, 10
Advisory Op. to Attorney Gen. re Rights of Elec. Consumers Regarding Solar Energy Choice, 188 So. 3d 822 (Fla. 2016)	5
Advisory Op. to the Attorney Gen. re Use of Marijuana for Certain Med. Conditions, 132 So. 3d 786 (Fla. 2014)	6, 9, 10
Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000)	4
Chiles v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n Nominating Council, 573 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1991)	8
In re Advisory Op. to Attorney Gen.—Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018 (Fla. 1994)	5
Morgan Stanley Capital Grp. Inc. v. Pub. Utility Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Cty., 554 U.S. 527 (2008)	12

ii

AMERICAS 99972474

OTHER AUTHORITIES

Art. XI, § 3, Fla. Const		12
--------------------------	--	----

ARGUMENT

Concessions made by the proponents of the Ballot Initiative—Citizens for Energy Choices ("CEC") and the Energy Suppliers—confirm the Florida Chamber of Commerce ("Chamber") and the Florida Economic Development Council's ("FEDC") showing that the Initiative violates the single subject rule. The proponents admit that the only "logical and natural oneness of purpose" that they can describe is "competition," which is far too broad and general to satisfy the singlesubject rule. They also concede that the amendment involves two disparate subjects: (1) to promote "competition" in the electricity market; while at the same time (2) eliminating an entire category of existing competitors (IOUs) from that market. They argue that the Court should defer to their subjective belief that the Initiative will foster greater competition, but their argument is based on a standard that applies only to *legislatively* proposed amendments, not to amendments proposed by citizen initiatives like the Ballot Initiative.

The proponents also do not dispute the Chamber and FEDC's showing that the Ballot Initiative and its implementing provisions create statewide constitutional Florida policy, thus substantially altering and performing the function of the Legislature. They argue that the Ballot Initiative gives the Legislature "substantial discretion" to implement the "complete and comprehensive legislation" required to overhaul the currently existing legislative and regulatory framework. But that

discretion is sharply limited by the Initiative's implementing provisions, which create the cataclysmic and precipitous change that violates the single subject rule.

The Court should strike the Ballot Initiative because it violates both prongs of the single subject rule.

I. THE BALLOT INITIATIVE VIOLATES THE SINGLE SUBJECT RULE

As we show in the initial brief and below, the Ballot Initiative violates the single subject rule because it (A) engages in logrolling; and (B) substantially alters and performs functions of multiple branches of government.¹

A. The Proposed Amendment Engages in Logrolling

The only "single unifying purpose" of the Ballot Initiative that the proponents can identify is "competition." Indeed, they argue that the Amendment has the "single unifying purpose' of giving customers of IOUs the right to choose their energy provider within a fully competitive energy market" (CEC at 22; *see also id.* at 4, 20), and "of providing the customers of investor-owned utilities with the right to choose their electricity provider in a competitive market" (ES at 41). However, as the Chamber and FEDC demonstrated, a subject such as "competition"

¹ The Chamber and FEDC's brief will be cited as "init. br. at #." "CEC at #" refers to the Citizens for Energy Choices' brief and "ES at #" refers to the Energy Suppliers' brief.

necessarily violates the single subject rule because it is so broad and general that it could encompass almost anything (*see* init. br. at 15-17).

The proponents also concede that the Ballot Initiative includes two diametrically opposed subjects. On the one hand, they argue that the Initiative is "trying to bring choice and competition to electricity markets" (ES at 43), that "[e]very element of the [Initiative] is a critical component to giving ratepayers of [IOUs] the right to choose their electricity provider in a fully competitive market" (id. at 4), and that the Initiative will "require[] the Legislature to enact laws that 'promote competition in the generation and retail sale of electricity" (CEC at 27-28). On the other hand, they concede that the Ballot Initiative would eliminate competition, that it would "bar[] the [IOUs] themselves from participating in competitive markets" (ES at 28) and "prevent the entrenched incumbent from thwarting competition" (CEC at 25), such that "[t]he only entity from whom the customer cannot choose is the incumbent IOU" (id. at 32).

Thus, the Initiative encompasses at least two very disparate subjects—purportedly promoting "competition" in a restructured energy marketplace while at the same time eliminating IOUs from competing in that marketplace. As the Chamber and FEDC demonstrated, those opposing subjects would force a Florida voter into making an "all or nothing" choice—for example, if she likes the idea of competition but also likes her current electricity provider, she would have to vote

that provider out of business if she wants to cast a vote for "competition"—which is precisely what the single-subject rule is designed to prevent (*see* init. br. at 15-17).

The proponents argue that the Ballot Initiative would not force such an "all or nothing" choice because they "believe" that the Ballot Initiative is the "only method of achieving a fully competitive wholesale and retail electricity market" (CEC at 26-27; see also id. at 25). And they argue that the Ballot Initiative is entitled to "extremely deferential" judicial review, complaining that the Initiative's opponents "ignore[] the principle that if 'any reasonable theory' can support an amendment's placement on the ballot, it should be upheld" (id. at 9, 25 (emphasis added)). But the "any reasonable theory" standard on which they rely does not apply to citizens' ballot initiatives. Indeed, their case, Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000), did not involve a citizens' ballot initiative. Instead, this Court explained why "we traditionally have accorded a measure of deference to the Legislature." Id. at 14 (emphasis added). And even *that* "deference [] is not boundless, for the constitution imposes strict minimum requirements that apply across-the-board to all constitutional amendments, including those arising in the Legislature." Id. Thus, the proponents' "beliefs" that the Ballot Initiative will create "real competition in Florida" (CEC at 29), and that there is "no 'unpopular' issue being swept along" by the Initiative (id. at 23), ignores the fact that the Initiative "enfold[s] disparate subjects within the cloak of a broad generality[, which] does not satisfy the single-

subject requirement" (init. br. at 17 (quoting *In re Advisory Op. to Attorney Gen.*—

Restricts Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1020 (Fla. 1994))).

The proponents cannot rely on the *Solar Energy* and *Medical Marijuana* cases to support their argument that the Initiative's "enumerated provisions have a logical and natural connection to the single plan" (CEC at 23). In the Solar cases, unlike here, the ballot initiatives did "not involve a popular, desirable provision combined with one that is undesirable." Advisory Op. to Attorney Gen. re Rights of Elec. Consumers Regarding Solar Energy Choice, 188 So. 3d 822, 828 (Fla. 2016), ("Solar Energy II"); Advisory Op. to the AG re: Limits or Prevents Barriers to Local Solar Elec. Supply, 177 So. 3d 235, 243 (Fla. 2015) ("Solar Energy I") (explaining that the purpose of the amendment was solely to remove legal and regulatory barriers to local solar electricity suppliers and to clarify how the amendment accomplished that purpose). Similarly, there was only one purpose in the Medical Marijuana cases—"whether Floridians wish to include a provision in [the] constitution permitting the medical use of marijuana"—and the provisions in the amendment that the Department of Health would oversee and license the medical use of marijuana, and that certain state-imposed penalties would be removed, "were directly connected with the amendment's purpose." Advisory Op. to the AG Re Use of Marijuana for Debilitating Med. Conditions, 181 So. 3d 471, 477 (Fla. 2015) ("Medical Marijuana

II"); Advisory Op. to the Attorney Gen. re Use of Marijuana for Certain Med. Conditions, 132 So. 3d 786, 796-97 (Fla. 2014) ("Medical Marijuana I").

B. The Proposed Amendment Substantially Alters and Performs the Functions of Multiple Branches of Government

CEC claims that the "arguments about the Amendment changing existing law are unfounded" and that it is "not accurate" to characterize the amendment as "wiping out decades of Florida law" (CEC at 44-45). That argument relies on two caveats in the Proposed Amendment: that it will not "invalidate this State's public policies on renewable energy, energy efficiency, and environmental protection, or limit the Legislature's ability to impose such policies on participants in competitive electricity markets;" and that it will not "limit or expand the existing authority of this State or any of its political subdivisions to levy and collect taxes, assessments, charges, or fees related to electricity service" (*id.* at 45-46).

As the Chamber and FEDC demonstrated, however, the Initiative would affect the existing legislative and regulatory framework of Florida's energy marketplace far beyond those two discrete areas (init. br. at 18-24). And the proponents *admit* that, by requiring the Legislature to "adopt complete and comprehensive legislation" to implement the Ballot Initiative's broad purpose of overhauling Florida's energy marketplace in favor of a "fully competitive energy market" (*see* CEC at 22, 32, 58), the Initiative will upend that legislative and regulatory framework.

Indeed, the proponents concede that the Ballot Initiative "touches on complex subject matter in trying to bring choice and competition to electricity markets," and is specifically designed to "transform[] the portion of Florida's retail electricity market served by [IOUs]," which has been in place for "over a century" (ES at 5, 43). They acknowledge that, "[g]iven the breadth of involvement of state and local governments in electricity regulation, it is certain that the Energy Choice Amendment will have some effects on them" (id. at 45-46). And they also concede that "the introduction of retail competition will eliminate the need for the PSC to set rates for retail electricity providers," and that "American citizens ... should reasonably be expected to understand that a government agency can no longer be dictating rates in a truly competitive free market" (CEC at 5, 37 (emphasis added)). Thus, the proponents effectively concede that the "PSC's authority over the electricity market . . . would be sharply curtailed or eliminated" (init. br. at 11). And they do not dispute that the broad duty of the "independent market monitor"—which the Ballot Initiative would create "to ensure the competitiveness of the wholesale and retail electricity markets" (A. 8)—would intrude upon the PSC's mandate.

Instead, the proponents argue the Ballot Initiative is constitutional because it "leaves to the Legislature the proper task of crafting the Legislation necessary to allow for a competitive energy market" (CEC at 50), and that "the ultimate form of the FPSC and the independent market monitor is up to the Florida Legislature" (ES

at 22; *see also id.* at 44 (the "Amendment does not attempt to change the FPSC specifically, but rather leaves its future role exclusively for the Legislature to define."); CEC at 49 ("While the amendment requires the creation of an independent market monitor, it leaves that action to the legislature, along with the specific details of how such an entity would be formed, and what powers it will have.")). But the Legislature's discretion is sharply curtailed by the "limiting features in subsection (c)" (CEC at 50), which impose "sweeping changes to Chapter 366 and the PSC's duties regarding electricity" that would cause "the sort of 'precipitous and cataclysmic change' to 'Florida's organic law' that the single subject rule is designed to avoid" (init. br. at 22).

The proponents also argue that the "major impact of the Energy Choice Amendment is on the Legislature" (ES at 46), and that the "PSC, the current energy overseer, is a *legislative* entity" (CEC at 49-50 (citing *Chiles v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n Nominating Council*, 573 So. 2d 829, 832 (Fla. 1991)). But they admit that there may be "[o]ther impacts . . . depend[ing] upon the form of the legislation that the Legislature eventually implements" (ES at 46). And *Chiles* explains that "some of the functions given the [PSC] are executive in nature." 573 So. 2d at 832. Thus, like the PSC, the "independent market monitor" would function as an arm of the Legislature that also performs executive functions (*see* init. br. at 23-24).

The proponents cite several cases to support their argument that the "opponents' fears of cataclysmic or precipitous policy changes are [] unfounded because the amendment affords the implementing branch far more time to effectuate purposes than other proposals approved by the Court" (CEC at 5, 43-44 (citing *Solar* Energy I, 177 So. 3d at 244; Medical Marijuana II, 181 So. 3d at 475; Medical Marijuana I, 132 So. 3d at 793; Advisory Op. to Attorney Gen. re: Protect People From the Health Hazards of Second-Hand Smoke, 814 So. 2d 415, 418 (Fla. 2002) ("Protect People From Second-Hand Smoke"); Advisory Op. to the Attorney Gen. re: Protect People, Especially Youth, from Addiction, Disease, and Other Health Hazards of Using Tobacco, 926 So. 2d 1186, 1189 (Fla. 2006) ("Protect People From Tobacco"))). But nothing in those opinions suggests that, in determining whether there would be cataclysmic or precipitous change, the Court considered how much time the Legislature was given to implement the initiative.

The proponents attempt to analogize the Ballot Initiative to the initiatives in several other cases (*see* CEC 40-48), but in those cases there was a clear single subject and the legislative and executive impacts were comparatively minor. *See Medical Marijuana I*, 132 So. 3d at 796-97 (noting that the Department of Health was only required to perform "regulatory oversight" that did not have a "substantial impact on legislative functions or powers," and that the Department of Health "would not be empowered . . . to make the types of primary policy decisions

that are prohibited under the doctrine of nondelegation of legislative power"); Medical Marijuana II, 181 So. 3d at 477-78 (same); Protect People From Tobacco, 926 So. 2d at 1192 (noting that the "executive branch's prime function is the enforcement of the laws" and "[a]ll this component of the amendment requires is the enforcement of these laws"); Protect People From Second-Hand Smoke, 814 So. 2d at 422 (finding that amendment only "respect[ed] the legislative function by making allowance for the Legislature to enact statutes to implement the constitutional provision" and did "not perform any judicial functions"). Moreover, in none of those cases would the initiatives have replaced an agency or regulatory authority. In the *Medical Marijuana* cases, the initiatives gave additional authority to the Department of Health. 132 So. 3d at 796-97; 181 So. 3d at 477-78. In Protect People From Second-Hand Smoke, 814 So. 2d at 416-18, and Protect People From Tobacco, 926 So. 2d at 1189-90, the initiatives had no direct effect on any agency.

II. THE PROPONENTS CONFIRM THAT THEY ARE RELYING ON THE "TEXAS MODEL," BUT TEXAS RESTRUCTURED ITS ELECTRICITY MARKET BY A PAINSTAKING LEGISLATIVE PROCESS, NOT BY BALLOT INITIATIVE

The proponents spend dozens of pages explaining how and why the Ballot Initiative is an attempt to apply Texas's "proven approach" to the "complex subject matter" of "full competition in electricity markets" (*see* ES at 3-35, 43). But they fail to acknowledge, as the Chamber and FEDC demonstrated, that the restructuring in Texas was accomplished by the legislature, not by ballot initiative (*see* init. br. at

8-10). The proponents also fail to acknowledge the complexity of the Texas effort, and how much time it took (*see id.*). And none of the other deregulation efforts touted by the proponents—Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") regulatory reform, airline deregulation, and the divestiture of AT&T (*see* ES at 7-10)—were achieved by constitutional amendment.

The proponents' only argument for why the Initiative is the "only means by which a restructuring of the energy market can be achieved" (CEC at 3 (emphasis added)) is that Florida IOUs have contributed to the Chamber, "state level candidates, political parties and political committees" and have "impressive political and economic strength" (*id.* at 15). But they cannot seriously argue that Texas IOUs had no lobbyists or political power, and they necessarily admit that Texas was able to restructure its energy marketplace legislatively (ES at 13).

The proponents also criticize the opposition briefs for "impermissibly argu[ing] the merits and wisdom of this initiative" (CEC at 3). But the Energy Suppliers' brief spends 35 pages explaining the benefits of competitive markets (ES at 3-38) and how Texas achieved "the most successful competitive electricity market in America today" (*Id.* at 11). And CEC asked this Court for extra pages so that it could spend ten pages arguing that the "juggernaut of opposition" has prevented legislative energy deregulation (CEC at 3, 10-18). The proponents' own briefs (*see* ES at 3; CEC at 3) claim that such arguments are irrelevant.

Finally, the proponents both quote (CEC includes a long block quote) *Morgan* Stanley Capital Group Inc. v. Public Utility District No. 1 of Snohomish County, 554 U.S. 527 (2008), to support their argument that, in the early 2000s, the FERC "sought to promote competition by preventing utilities (chiefly investor-owned) from using the advantages of their remaining 'natural monopoly'" (ES at 29), and that "technology now allows for 'competitive markets in the generation component of the electric utility industry" (CEC at 3, 13). But the quote in the Energy Suppliers brief stops just short of including two sentences—which CEC simply omits from its block quote without acknowledging it—showing that the FERC accomplished that objective through methods that look nothing like the Ballot Initiative. Indeed, the missing sentences show that the "FERC required in Order No. 888 that each transmission provider offer transmission service to all customers on an equal basis by filing an 'open access transmission tariff," which "prevent[ed] the utilities that own the grid from offering more favorable transmission terms to their own affiliates and thereby extending their monopoly power to other areas of the industry." See Morgan Stanley, 554 U.S. at 536 (citations omitted).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated here and in the Chamber and FEDC's initial brief, this Court should strike the Proposed Amendment from the ballot because it violates article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

Dated: June 21, 2019 Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Raoul G. Cantero

White & Case LLP

Southeast Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Blvd., Ste. 4900 Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 371-2700 Facsimile: (305) 358-5744

Raoul G. Cantero

Florida Bar No. 552356

E-mail: rcantero@whitecase.com

David P. Draigh

Florida Bar No. 624268

E-mail: ddraigh@whitecase.com

Zachary B. Dickens Florida Bar No. 98935

E-mail: zdickens@whitecase.com

Counsel for the Florida Chamber of Commerce and the Florida Economic Development Council

CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE

I certify that this brief complies with the requirements of Rule 9.210(a)(2) and is written in Times New Roman 14-point font.

By: /s/ Raoul G. Cantero
Raoul G. Cantero

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of this brief was electronically filed and served through the Court's e-filing system on this 21st day of June 2019, on the following:

Amit Agarwal, S.G.
Edward M. Wenger, Chief Deputy S. G.
Christopher J. Baum, Deputy S.G.
Office of the Attorney General
The Capitol, PL-01
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
Tallahassee, (850) 414-3300

Telephone: (850) 414-3300 amit.agarwal@myfloridalegal.com edward.wenger@myfloridalegal.com christopher.baum@myfloridalegal.com

Counsel for Attorney General Ashley Moody

Adam S. Tanenbaum
J. Michael Maida
Florida House of Representatives
418 The Capital
402 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1300
Telephone: (850) 717-5500
adam.tanenbaum@myfloridahouse.gov
michael.maida@myfloridahouse.gov

Counsel for Florida House of Representatives

Jeremiah Hawkes
Ashley Istler
The Florida Senate
302 The Capital
404 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100
Telephone: (850) 487-5237
hawkes.jeremiah@flsenate.gov
istler.ashley@flsenate.gov

Counsel for The Florida Senate; and Bill Galvano, in his Official Capacity as President of the Florida Senate

Samantha M. Cibula Andrew B. King Keith C. Hetrick Florida Public Service Commission 2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. Tallahassee, FL 32399-0850

Telephone: (850) 413-6199 scibula@psc.state.fl.us aking@psc.state.fl.us khetrick@psc.state.fl.us

Counsel for the Florida Public Service Commission

Rachael M. Crews Thomas A. Cloud **GrayRobinson, P.A.**

301 East Pine St., Suite 1400 (32801)

P.O. Box 3068

Orlando, Florida 32802 Telephone: (407) 843-8880 Facsimile: (407) 244-5690

rachael.crews@gray-robinson.com thomas.cloud@gray-robinson.com

Counsel for Florida League of Cities, Inc., Florida Association of Counties, Inc., Florida Sheriffs Association, and Florida Police Benevolent Association

M. Stephen Turner
Nelson Mullins Broad and Cassel
215 South Monroe Street, Suite 400
P.O. Drawer 11300 32302
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Telephone: (850) 681-6810
stephen.turner@nelsonmullins.com

Counsel for Floridians for Affordable Reliable Energy, Inc. (FARE), Urban League of Palm Beach County, Jacksonville Urban League, and the Central Florida Urban League Daniel Nordby
Rachel Nordby
Benjamin Gibson
Amber Stoner Nunnally
Shutts &Bowen LLP
215 South Monroe Street, Suite 804
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Telephone:
nordby@shutts.com

nordby@shutts.com rnordby@shutts.com bgibson@shutts.com anunnally@shutts.com

Counsel for Associated Industries of Florida, Florida Health Care Association, and Florida Hospital Association

George N. Meros, Jr.
D. Bruce May, Jr.
Tara R. Price
Holland & Knight LLP
315 South Calhoun Street, Suite 600
Tallahassee, FL 32301
Telephone: (850) 224-7000
george.meros@hklaw.com
bruce.may@hklaw.com
tara.price@hklaw.com

Counsel for The Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc.

Alain E. Boileau

City of Fort Lauderdale

100 N. Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: (954) 828-5038

aboileau@fortlauderdale.gov

Counsel for the City of Fort Lauderdale

Douglas R. Gonzales City of Hollywood

2600 Hollywood Blvd., Suite 407

P. O. Box 229045

Hollywood, Florida 330202

Telephone: (954) 921-3435

dgonzales@hollywoodfl.org

Counsel for the City of Hollywood

Glen J. Torcivia

Torcivia Donlon Goddeau & Ansay P.A.

701 Northpoint Pkwy, Ste. 209 West

Palm Beach, FL 33407-1956

Telephone: (561) 686-8700

glen@torcivialaw.com

Counsel for City of Belle Glade

Mark E. Berman

City of Pompano Beach

100 West Atlantic Blvd.

Pompano Beach, Florida 33060

Telephone: (954) 786-4614 Mark.Berman@copbfl.com

Counsel for the City of Pompano Beach

John Rayson

Town of Davie

6591 Orange Drive

Davie, Florida 33314

Telephone: (954) 797-1101

John_Rayson@davie-fl.gov

Counsel for the Town of Davie

Wade C. Vose

Vose Law Firm LLP

324 W Morse Blvd

Winter Park, FL 32789-4294

Telephone: (407) 645-3735

wvose@voselaw.com

Counsel for Village of Indiantown

Kathryn Michelle Blankenship Jordan Blankenship Jordan, P.A.

1512 Highway 90 Chipley, FL 32428-2177 Telephone: (850) 638-9689

michelle@blankenshipjordanpa.com

Counsel for Cities of Chipley and Vernon

Gregory T. Stewart Heather J. Encinosa Evan J. Rosenthal **Nabors, Giblin & Nickerson, P.A.**

1500 Mahan Drive, Suite 200 Tallahassee, Florida 32308 Telephone: (850) 224-4070 gstewart@ngnlaw.com hencinosa@ngnlaw.com erosenthal@ngnlaw.com

Counsel for JEA

William N. Spicola Post Office Box 664 Tallahassee, FL 32302 Telephone: (850) 895-1056 williamspicolapa@gmail.com

Counsel for American Senior Alliance

Donia Roberts

Donia Adams Roberts P.A. 257 Dr. ML King Jr. Blvd East Belle Glade, FL 33430-4025 Telephone: (561) 993-0990 attorney@doniarobertspa.com

Counsel for The Lake Okeechobee Regional Economic Alliance of Palm Beach County, Inc.

Glenn Burhans, Jr.

Stearns Weaver Miller Weissler

Alhadeff & Sitterson, P.A.

Highpoint Center 106 East College Avenue - Suite 700 Tallahassee, FL 32301 Telephone: (850) 329-4850 gburhans@stearnsweaver.com

Counsel for Partnership for Affordable Clean Energy a/k/a Energy Fairness

Matthew J. Conigliaro
Carlton Fields, P.A.
4221 W. Boy Scout Blvd., Suite 1000
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 229-4254
mconigliaro@Carltonfields.com

Counsel for Florida Association of Realtors, Inc., d/b/a Florida Realtors

W. Christopher Browder
Orlando Utilities Commission

100 West Anderson Street Orlando, Florida 32801 Telephone: (407) 434-2167 CBrowder@ouc.com

Counsel for Orlando Utilities Commission

Jody Lamar Finklea **Florida Municipal Power Agency**2061-2 Delta Way

Tallahassee, Florida 32303 Telephone: (850) 297-2011 jody.lamar.finklea@fmpa.com

Counsel for Florida Municipal Electric Association, Inc. and Florida Municipal Power Agency

Michelle L. Hershel Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc.

2916 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301 Telephone: (850) 877-6166 mhershel@feca.com

Counsel for The Florida Electric Cooperatives Association, Inc. Kenneth W. Sukhia
Sukhia & Williams Law Group PLLC

241 E. 6th Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32303 Telephone: (850) 383-9111 ksukhia@sukhialawfirm.com

Counsel for Sponsor

Jason Gonzalez

Shutts & Bowen LLP

215 South Monroe Street, Suite 804 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 Telephone: (850) 241-1717 jasongonzalez@shutts.com

Counsel for Tampa Electric Company and Duke Energy Florida, LLC

Bryan A. Garner (Pro Hac Vice)
Garner & Garner LLP
8133 Inwood Road
Dallas, Texas 75209
Telephone: (214) 691-8588
bgarner@lawprose.org

Counsel for Tampa Electric Company and Duke Energy Florida, LLC

Warren Rhea **Infinite Energy, Inc.** 7001 SW 24th Avenue

Gainesville, Florida 32607-3704 Telephone: (352) 231-2579 wlrhea@infiniteenergy.com

Counsel for the Energy Suppliers

Jonathan Barton Golden

Panza, Maurer & Maynard, P.A.

Coastal Tower, Suite 905

2400 E. Commercial Blvd.

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33308

Telephone: (954) 390-0100

jgolden@panzamaurer.com

Counsel for Audubon Florida, and The Nature Conservancy, Florida Program Barry Richard Greenberg Traurig, P.A.

101 East College Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32302 Telephone: (850) 222-6891 richardb@gtlaw.com *Counsel for*

Florida Power & Light Company and Gulf Power Company

Virginia C. Dailey Panza, Maurer & Maynard, P.A.

201 E. Park Avenue, Suite 200 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 Telephone: (850) 681-0980 vdailey@panzamaurer.com

Counsel for Audubon Florida, and The Nature Conservancy, Florida Program

By: /s/ Raoul G. Cantero Raoul G. Cantero